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on July 23, 2009


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s workers’ compensation claim (WCC) on April 15, 2009, on the written record at Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Joseph A. Kalamarides, Kalamarides & Lambert, represented the employee.  Attorney Joseph M. Cooper, Russell, Wagg, Gabbert & Budzinski, represented the employer and insurer.  The record closed when the Board met again on July 2, 2009, to deliberate.


ISSUE

Is the employee entitled to future medical benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.095?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

Deborah Buser (“employee”) sustained a work injury on May 18, 2004, while working for the Matanuska Susitna Borough School District (“Employer”) as a Special Education Assistant.
  The employee fell down a flight of steps on her way to the school library to return a book.
  Ms. Buser had several pre-existing conditions including bilateral ankle fusions as a child, bilateral arthroscopic knee surgeries in 2000, and bilateral knee replacements in 2002.
  The Employer paid time loss benefits through October 30, 2008, when all time loss benefits including Permanent Total Disability benefits were settled by a Compromise and Release filed with the Board on October 21, 2008.
  The only remaining question is whether the employee is entitled to future medical benefits as a result of the fall in 2004.  
MEDICAL HISTORY

A. Pre-2004 Relevant Medical History

The employee was seen on December 20, 1993, by Duane Odland, D.O., Wasilla, with complaints of bilateral knee pain.
  Dr. Odland saw her again on November 13, 1996, with complaints of muscle pain in her legs and feet and he noted that she had birth defects. He issued a disability parking permit due to her disabled feet.
  On February 6, 1997, Dr. Odland saw the employee for right elbow pain which he assessed as lateral epicondylitis.
  He saw her again on November 3, 1998, in a check up for anemia, at which time he started her on ferrous gluconate.

The employee saw David A. McGuire, M. D., on July 31, 2000, for problems with bilateral knee pain with the right worse than the left.  She stated her left knee had been injured in 1988 when she slipped on Christmas lights and fell to a concrete side wall (sic).  She reported no specific recent injury but said her right knee had become unstable in the past year.  Dr. McGuire’s  impression was valgus right knee with lateral meniscus tear and degenerative joint disease of left patella with subluxaton.  He recommended arthroscopy of both knees.
  X-rays of both knees on
August 2, 2000, showed a loss of joint space bilaterally, along with some early chondrocalcinosis, spurring, and lipping, changes of moderately advanced degenerative joint disease, greater on the right than on the left.
  On August 15, 2000, Dr. McGuire performed bilateral arthroscopy, bilateral partial medial meniscectomy, bilateral near total lateral meniscectomy, bilateral extensive synovectomy, bilateral debridement of patella and trochlea, and bilateral lateral retinacular release. His postoperative diagnosis was bilateral degenerative arthritis, bilateral medial meniscal tear, bilateral lateral meniscal tear, valgus knee (right), severe degenerative joint disease (lateral compartment, right knee), extensive synovitis (right knee), severe degenerative joint disease (patellofemoral joint, left knee), bilateral chondromalacia (grade 2, medial femoral condyle and medial tibial plateau), chondromalacia (grade 2, patella and trochlea, right knee, lateral femoral condyle and lateral tibial plateau, left knee), and chondromalacia (grade 3, lateral femoral condyle and lateral tibial plateau, right knee, and patella and trochlea, left knee).

When seen by Dr. McGuire on August 16, 2000, and again on August 28, 2000, employee reported improved knee function.  She was within the normal recovery curve.  Dr. McGuire instructed her in exercises and limited her lifting to 10 pounds with no stairs, squatting, kneeling, jumping, climbing or running.  On September 29, 2000, Dr. McGuire’s locum tenens Carl Unsicker, M.D., found that the employee was making nice progress but she had increased swelling at the end of the day.  He found no instability and almost full range of motion.  He recommended she continue icing the knees and recommended a patellar centralizing brace for the right knee due to the giving way of the knee.

When Dr. McGuire saw the employee on October 23, 2000, she reported improved knee function and liked the brace because she had little pain when using it.  On November 20, 2000, employee reported good progress but there was bulging in the lateral release and Dr. McGuire suggested she pad the bulges.  She was to continue use of the brace.  On January 15, 2001, employee reported some pain in the right knee on the lateral side but no pain in the left knee.  Dr. McGuire noted her quads were weak and said she needed to work on them.

Dr. McGuire noted on March 19, 2001, employee was using a stationary bike but had not been working on her quads.  He found both knees were stable with good range of motion.  He suggested she work on her bent leg raises before he saw her next.  Employee saw him again on June 11, 2001, at which time Dr. McGuire reported she had right lateral knee pain for one week.  She reported wearing her brace full-time, and said she had no left knee pain but she was not doing any exercising.  Dr. McGuire found she had moderate prepatellar bursal effusion on the right knee and advised her that an exercise program was the best thing she could do.

Michael H. Newman, M.D., examined employee on January 12, 2002, at the request of
Dr. McGuire, for possible TKR [total knee replacement].  He found patellar subluxations and progressive valgus deformity on the right side.  Employee reported intolerable pain and the knees were unstable.  His impression was osteoarthritis of both knees and discussed total knee replacement with employee and her husband.  He also noted she was anemic and might not be able to give autologous blood.  She indicated she wanted both knees done at the same time.
  X-rays of the knees done on March 12, 2002, showed severe degenerative changes in both knees, greatest in the lateral compartments.  The x-rays also confirmed significant leg length discrepancy with the left being the shorter by 3 cm.
  Dr. Newman noted that she had chronic anemia with a hemoglobin count of 11.  The plan was to start her on Procrit.
  She had injections on April 23, April 30 and May 7, 2002, and her hemoglobin went up to 13.6.
  The chest x-ray on May 14, 2002, showed no evidence of cardiac or pulmonary disease but mild s-shaped scoliosis of the thoracic spine.

Dr. Odland cleared the employee  for surgery on May 14, 2002.
   On May 15, 2002, the employee had bilateral total knee replacements done by Dr. Newman, whose postoperative diagnosis was bilateral osteoarthritis of the knee.
  On the day of surgery she received 40,000 units of Procrit.
  She was discharged on May 18, 2002.
 

John T. Duddy, M.D., saw the employee in follow-up on May 24, 2002, and she reported she was doing “pretty good.”  She was undergoing physical therapy and was having less pain.  Dr. Duddy noted the physical therapist reported she had improved range of motion.
  Dr. Newman saw the employee on May 28, 2002, and noted minimal pain and swelling although she had some erythema in the distal right wound which did not seem severe.  Nonetheless he prescribed antibiotics for it.  He also noted right foot drop from which she was recovering.  He put her in an AFO [ankle-foot orthosis] to help with ambulation in the short-run.

On June 25, 2002, the employee saw Dr. Duddy in follow-up to her surgery and she wondered if it would be okay for her to travel to Virginia.  She was advised to move around the cabin as much as possible but otherwise traveling would be fine. 
  Dr. Newman saw the employee on July 30, 2002, and he felt she was doing “extremely well” for pain relief and range of motion.  She reported one day of lateral instability.  He also noted that her peroneal palsy was not recovering.  She was to continue wearing the dropfoot brace.

The employee was seen at Elmendorf AFB Emergency Room on January 29, 2003, for flu like symptoms.
  She was seen in follow-up on January 31, 2003, and was doing better.
  The employee saw Dr. Newman on February 18, 2003, who reported she was doing well with no pain.  He noted some clicking on the right and her patella was riding “a bit peculiarly” but he thought since she had no pain it was not going to be a problem.  However, her foot drop had not resolved so she would need to wear the brace indefinitely.
  On June 18, 2003, the employee was seen at Elmendorf AFB Hospital for an evaluation of her knee after an injury when she reported she fell across a chair on the last day of school.  The left knee showed mild diffuse ecchymosis with a resolving contusion but no swelling or laxity.  The right knee showed no ecchymosis, swelling or laxity.
 

The employee was seen on September 24, 2003, at Elmendorf AFB Snowy Owls Clinic for back pain over 4 days.  She reported the onset was at work when she bent over to put something away in a file cabinet.  She was taken off work for 2 days and advised to use ice, Motrin and Flexeril.
  

The employee was next seen at Elmendorf AFB Hospital on April 26, 2004, for right knee pain.
X-rays of her knees showed no evidence of loosening of the hardware with spacing of the prosthesis maintained in both knees.  No complications were seen.
 

B. 2004 Injury – Medical History

On May 18, 2004, the Matanuska-Susitna Borough Emergency Services report stated the employee had fallen down the stairs at work and was complaining of pain in head and shoulders with hypothermia.  She reported no neck or back pain.  The assessment was possible head/shoulder injury secondary to the fall.
  She was taken to the Valley Hospital Emergency Room, where she was given morphine and Phenergan for her pain.  She did not appear to be in any significant distress.  Her neck had no real tenderness but she had some soreness with range of motion.  She reported some mild vague pain in the left foot but with good sensation in all extremities.  She also reported some mild tenderness in the mid-thoracic spine.  X-ray of the cervical spine showed degenerative disc disease and some decreased bone mineralization.  The x-ray of the thoracic spine showed some generalized decreased bone mineralization but was unremarkable.  The x-ray of the left foot showed chronic changes without evidence of fracture or dislocation.  The x-ray of the left knee showed the total knee arthroplasty and decreased bone mineralization.  The diagnosis was contusions and she was given Flexeril and Darvocet.  Although she hit her head several times during the fall, she did not have any evidence of a closed head injury.

The employee saw Libby A. Lake at the Snow Owls Clinic at Elmendorf AFB on May 19, 2004, with complaints of neck, rib cage and knee pain from the fall.  The assessment was cervicalgia and rib cage contusion/sprain. 
  Dr. Lake saw the employee again on May 25, 2004, with complaints that her pain had not decreased and she could not work due to the pain.  She also had headaches radiating from her right neck and marked tenderness to palpation (TTP) in the right trapezius area.  She was to continue with the Flexeril and given Naprosyn in place of the Alleve.  She was to use heat and stretching.

On July 21, 2004, the employee was seen by Clay Robert Dahlquist at the Snowy Owls Clinic with complaints of low back, head, right shoulder and bilateral knee pain.  His opinion was the postural changes since the fall aggravated her knee pain.  He recommended physical therapy and ordered an MRI of her shoulder.
  The employee was evaluated on August 4, 2004, for physical therapy.  The physical therapist noted the employee thought her left foot drop was worse and her gait showed slight Trendelenberg on the left, mild slap foot.

Tim Kavanaugh, M.D., evaluated the employee on August 10, 2004, who reported her knees seemed “much more loose” since her fall than before the injury.  She complained both knees were unstable, although the right was worse than the left.  His impression was clinically significant instability bilateral total knees status post fall.  He thought she had torn her posterior cruciate ligaments on both sides and this was causing her instability.  He recommended revisions to the posterior cruciate substituting prostheses, starting with the right.
  

On August 11, 2004, the employee reported to John E. McDermott, Physician Assistant, Snowy Owls Clinic, reporting an increase in her headaches.  She had not undergone the MRI due to claustrophobia and was rescheduled for an open MRI.
  The employee commenced physical therapy at Elmendorf AFB on August 4, 2004.
  Dr. Lake ordered an open brain MRI on
August 16, 2004, due to ongoing headaches.
  The MRI of the brain was done on August 17, 2004, which showed normal variant cavum septum pellucidum et vergae.  The remainder of the brain appeared to be unremarkable without evidence of intracranial hemorrhage and some minimal paranasal sinus disease.
  An MRI of the right shoulder was done on August 18, 2004, and showed a possible rotator cuff tear.

On September 9, 2004, the employee reported to Mr. McDermott, she had chronic daily headaches which started after her fall.  The headaches, she stated, started around the occipital area/upper neck and spread to the side of her head.  The prescription for Elavil was increased to 100 mg nightly.
  Mr. McDermott also released her to limited work as of September 17, 2004, with no standing over 10 minutes and no overhead movement of arm. 

Thad C. Stanford, M.D., examined the employee on September 17, 2004, at the request of the employer.  He attributed her cervical strain, lumbar strain, cruciate ligament problems and the right shoulder problem to the fall in May 2004.  Although the employee had pre-existing knee problems, Dr. Stanford opined that the cruciate instability was the result of the fall.  The other problems did not exist prior to the fall.  He could not comment on the etiology of her headaches but noted that temporally at least they arose after the fall.  He recommended bilateral EMG and nerve conduction studies to determine the nature of the bilateral foot drop.  He also suggested she would benefit from an injection to her right shoulder as well as physical therapy for her neck and low back.  If she needed knee surgeries it would be several months before she would be medically stable.
  Dr. Stanford, in a follow-up letter after receiving and reviewing some additional medical records from her family practice clinic, opined her low back condition was still related to the work injury despite pre-existing problems.  He also noted, since the family practice clinic records did not describe or recognize any instability or laxity of her knees, it was probable her knee instability was the result of the fall in May 2004.
 

On October 7, 2004, Dr. Kavanaugh saw the employee in preparation for her total knee revision and discussed the possibility of her peroneal nerve palsy getting worse after surgery.
  The employee was admitted to Providence Hospital on October 8, 2004, for a right knee total replacement which was performed the same day.  Postoperative diagnosis was failed right total knee replacement.  The procedure was Revision right total knee replacement bone components. She was discharged on October 11, 2004.

On October 12, 2004, the employee met with Daniel J. Gallagher, Physical Therapist, to begin both a supervised regime and a home exercise program.  She was to participate in therapeutic exercise and gait training 2 to 3 times a week plus the home exercise program.
  Dr. Kavanaugh saw her on October 21, 2004, for follow-up and reported that she was doing extremely well, with very little pain.  He was pleased with her results and recommended she continue with her exercises.

On November 16, 2004, the employee saw Mr. McDermott at Snowy Owls Clinic with complaints of back and shoulder pain.  He reported the MRI showed a partial tear of the rotator cuff, and she had been on medications and in physical therapy without relief.
  Dr. Kavanaugh saw the employee on November 18, 2004, and noted that overall she was doing well.  The employee stated she would like to have the left knee revision after the first of the year.  He continued her off work.
  Mr. McDermott on, on December 15, 2004, restarted her on Elavil for the shoulder, back and neck pain.
  He released her for surgery on January 5, 2005.

The employee entered Providence Alaska Medical Center on January 14, 2005, and on the same day Dr. Kavanaugh performed a revision of left total knee replacement, both components.  His post-operative diagnosis was failed left total knee replacement.
  She was released from the hospital with home health care and commencement of a physical therapy program.
  Dr. Gallagher recommended discharge from formal physical therapy on January 26, 2005, to a home PT program as the employee had met her goals, demonstrated excellent compliance with the home exercise program and had good range of motion and strength in her left knee.

Dr. Kavanaugh next saw the employee on January 27, 2005, when she was two weeks status post-surgery.  He recommended she continue her activities as tolerated and continue her exercises.
X-rays showed good alignment of the cemented total knee replacement.
  He continued her off work.
  Dr. Kavanaugh next saw her on March 1, 2005, six weeks post surgery.  The employee reported she would also like an evaluation of her right shoulder, which she said she hurt in the fall, because her extensive conservative treatment had not relieved her pain.  His impression was she was doing well from the knee surgery and she had a rotator cuff tear.  He recommended she continue her strengthening exercises for the knee and discussed a mini open rotator cuff repair with an acromioplasty for the shoulder.
  An X-ray of the left knee showed soft tissue fullness and suprapatellar bursa, suggesting effusion.
  The X-ray of the right shoulder was unremarkable.
  The employee also saw Dr. Lake at the Snowy Owls Clinic on March 1, 2005, with complaints of right shoulder, neck and back pain and severe headaches, all of which she related to the fall at school.  She was given Neurontin, Ibuprofen and Ultram.
  

Dr. Kavanaugh performed a right mini-open rotator cuff repair and right open acromioplasty on March 4, 2005, at Providence Alaska Medical Center.  His post-operative diagnosis was right rotator cuff tear.
  Dr. Kavanaugh saw her in follow-up on March 17, 2005, and noted she was doing well.  He instructed her in pendulum exercises to be done twice a day.
  The employee next saw Dr. Kavanaugh on March 31, 2005, who noted she had very little pain in the shoulder.  She had been doing her pendulum exercises and he recommended she start formal physical therapy.

The employee met with Anne Thomas, Physical Therapist, on April 4, 2005, to start therapy for the rotator cuff repair.  The employee presented with excellent range of motion and the goal of physical therapy was to facilitate her range of motion with improved strength, endurance, and functional activity.

Dr. Lake met with the employee on April 18, 2005, for discussion regarding her ongoing headaches.  

Since the employee’s headaches had not decreased in frequency, Dr. Lake increased the Neurontin to 3 tabs nightly.  Her assessment was tension headaches.
  Dr. Kavanaugh met with the employee on April 28, 2005, at which time he noted she was doing well and could stop formal physical therapy.  He released her to a home program only and stated his intentions of releasing her to work with restrictions.  She was doing well with no gross weakness and excellent range of motion.

Dr. Kavanaugh released the employee to work with no lifting over 10 pounds, no prolonged standing and no excessive bending or twisting.

On May 13, 2005, Dr. Kavanaugh referred the employee to Dr. Eule for evaluation of headaches and backaches.
  The Employee was seen by Cindy Lee, D.O, on May 18, 2005.  Her diagnoses were chronic low back pain felt mostly to be related to mechanical pain and weakened spinal musculature becoming chronic, lumbosacral strain, chronic neck pain, chronic cervical strain, cervical degenerative disc disease, probable cervical spondylosis, and chronic daily headaches.  She recommended continuation of the medication regime and an MRI of the cervical spine.  She also recommended lumbar stabilization exercises.  Based on the employee’s history of no neck pain, headaches or low back pain prior to the fall, Dr. Lee stated there was some underlying relationship between these complaints and the May 18, 2004, fall.
  The MRI of the cervical spine on May 25, 2005, showed small midline protrusions at all levels from C3 through C7 but no significant mass effect on the cord or exiting nerve roots.  There was reversal of the cervical lordosis consistent with muscular spasms.  Otherwise, the study was unremarkable.
  Dr. Lee reviewed the MRI with the employee on May 26, 2005, and recommended an MRI of the lumbar spine.  She also recommended blood work to rule out any underlying cause of her recent fall.  Dr. Lee noted numerous trigger points were causing discomfort in the upper thoracic area, anterior chest wall, and the lumbosacral area over the SI joints.  Both ankles also revealed bilateral, almost foot drop-type, weakness but not true EHL [extensor hallucis longus] weakness.  She also wanted the employee to see Dr. Chang to sort out whether her wide-based gait was related to her ankles or if any weakness was acute and related to the fall in May 2004.  She also suggested a trial of Prozac and Daypro 600mg.

The MRI of the lumbar spine was taken on June 1, 2005, and showed moderately severe degenerative disc disease at L2-L3 with diffuse bulging and a superimposed small right paramedian disc protrusion; mild degenerative disc disease at L3-L4; facet arthritis at L5-S1; and unusual intermediate signal within the thecal sac from L2 inferiorly which might represent an artifact, although diffuse enlargement of the cauda equine nerve roots could be another possibility.  Further evaluation was recommended.

Dr. Lee saw the employee on June 8, 2005, to review the MRI and noted the MRI revealed severe degenerative changes at L2-L3, L3-L4, and facet arthropathy at L5-S1.  Dr. Lee noted the laboratory results were within normal limits.  With regard to her neck symptoms, there was obvious muscle spasm and protrusion from C3 through C7 with no cord mass effect.
  

Dr. Chang saw the employee on June 29, 2005, for evaluation of her foot gait.  He stated her gait was compensatory for her neuropraxia, and not pathologic.  He found nothing myelopathic in her gait.  His recommendation was weight bearing as tolerated and no further intervention for her gait at that time.
  

On June 25, 2005, the employee was again seen by Dr. Stanford at the request of the employer.   His impressions were bilateral knee replacements and revisions and multiple other problems including back, shoulder, neck and headaches which were not evaluated.  He concluded the May 2004 fall was a substantial factor in causing, aggravating or accelerating her knee problems.  While hesitant to say that she was medically stable from the knee replacements, he noted she was doing well and met the statutory definition of medical stability.  Using the AMA Guides, 5th Ed., he gave her a 28% whole person rating, for both knees combined.  Dr. Stanford opined that the employee did not need any further medical treatment for the knees, although she had permanent physical restrictions including no heavy lifting and no prolonged standing.  Dr. Stanford opined that the employee could not return to her work at the time of injury.
  

Dr. Stanford saw the employee again on July 14, 2005, for evaluation of her low back, cervical spine, right shoulder, both ankles and headaches.  His diagnoses included (1) low back strain, with pre-existing degenerative arthritic change; (2) cervical strain, with pre–existing degenerative arthritic change; (3) right shoulder strain with status postoperative decompression surgery and impingement syndrome; (4) status postoperative bilateral knee replacements; (5) probable cruciate instability, posteriorly bilaterally and anteriorly bilaterally; (6) triple arthrodesis bilaterally, unrelated; (7) foot drop bilaterally, etiology unclear, unrelated; and (8) headaches, tension in nature, related to cervical strain above.  The foot drop and the triple arthrodeses of the ankles were not, in his opinion, related to the May 2004 fall.  She was medically stable with regard to the knees, and the lumbar and cervical spines, but the shoulder surgery had not helped her as her range of motion was considerably less than in September 2004 when he first saw her.  He felt she might benefit from an injection and physical therapy.  Dr. Stanford rated her for PPI for the lumbar and cervical conditions but reduced each rating by 50% for pre-existing degeneration, giving her an additional 7% in PPI for a whole person rating of 33% (in combination with the previous 28% for the knees).  He did not rate the shoulder.

Dr. Kavanaugh saw the employee on July 28, 2005, in follow-up for her shoulder which seemed to be doing well.  She reported having some pain a month earlier but she changed her pillow and now she had no pain in her shoulder.  Dr. Kavanaugh thought she had some tendinitis which cleared up with the change in pillow.
  The employee continued to treat at Elmendorf for back pain.
  On September 1, 2005, the employee saw Dr. Kavanaugh’s PA-C Dallas Sheckler, who noted she was doing well from both the knee replacements and the shoulder surgery.
  The employee also had ongoing treatment at Elmendorf for her headaches.
  Rebekah G. Briscoe, M.D., saw the employee on September 13, 2005, at Snowy Owls Clinic (Elmendorf) for adjustment of her medications for her migraine prophylaxis.  The employee also reported both amitriptyline and Neurontin had stopped working for her.  She further added she had tension headaches from tension in her neck.  She was given a renewed prescription for Neurontin along with a prescription for Flexeril.

X-rays of both the right and left knees were taken on October 18, 2005, and showed no joint effusion and no acute process.  J. Michael James, M.D., saw the employee on the same day.  His impression was (1) degenerative disc disease of the cervical spine with discogenic/facet neck pain; (2) cervicogenic headaches, which, for the most part, have abated; (3) degenerative disc disease of the lumbar spine with low back pain, probably mechanical in origin.  He did not believe her foot drop was related to her lumbar spine nor related to the disc protrusion at L2-L3; (4) bilateral revision of total knee procedure with good result; (5) bilateral foot drop, improved, which is probably peripheral in origin, unrelated to her spine; and (6) postoperative right rotator cuff repair and right acromioplasty with some restrictive capsulitis postoperatively.  Dr. James rated her shoulder at 13% whole person using the AMA Guides, 5th Ed.  He also recommended an EMG study of her lower extremity weakness to define the source, possibly peripheral nerve injury versus a more central problem. 

Electrodiagnostic testing was done on November 1, 2005, by Dr. James who stated the study demonstrated a very severe peripheral neuropathy.  Peroneal velocities were not obtainable.  His impression was severe chronic peripheral neuropathy and he recommended follow-up with Dr. Downs.
  Mary Downs, M.D., saw the employee on November 21, 2005, and noted the employee reported continuing falls, averaging two a month.  Her assessment was peripheral neuropathy.  She further stated although the employee related her symptoms to her fall down the stairs at work, the fall did not cause the peripheral neuropathy.  Dr. Downs stated the employee could increase her Neurontin.  She advised the employee her peripheral neuropathy was not caused by the fall in 2004.

Dr. James saw the employee again on November 5, 2005, for complaints of low back pain, neck pain, shoulder pain, bilateral knee pain and foot drop.  He recommended facet blocks for the back pain.
  The first block was done on November 3, 2005.
  The employee saw Dr. James in follow-up on January 6, 2006, at which time she reported a 50% reduction in pain.  He stated her gait was a steppage gait from bilateral peroneal nerve incomplete lesion/weakness.  In relation to her worker’s compensation injury, Dr. James stated he would be happy to review her medical record.

On January 11, 2006, blood work at Elmendorf reflected a vitamin B12 level below normal at 158 (normal being 180 to 194).
  Dr.  Briscoe saw the employee in follow-up for back complaints on January 21, 2006.  The employee reported the recent diagnosis of neuropathy and also complained of memory problems.  She referred the employee to Neurology for a consult for the memory problems and to Tricare for consult.

Dr. James saw the employee again on January 24, 2006, for reassessment and PPI rating regarding other aspects of her injuries from the fall on May 18, 2004.  Dr. James felt she was medically stable but unable to work and this condition was permanent.  He discounted her cervical PPI by 60% due to pre-existing disease, leaving 6% PPI for the cervical.  He also reduced the PPI rating on the low back by 60% leaving a 9% PPI rating.  After rating her knees, and shoulder, he combined all ratings to arrive at a total of 53% whole person PPI rating, using the AMA Guides, 5th Ed.

Dr. Downs wrote a “to whom it may concern” letter on January 25, 2006, in which she reiterated that the 2004 fall did not cause the employee’s peripheral neuropathy but stated that the employee indicated that her symptoms started at the time of the fall.  Dr. Downs stated further that the back and other injuries were related to the fall.   Dr. Downs also reevaluated the employee on the same day.  She noted low B12 level and said she would like to draw a methylmalonic acid and start the employee on B12 replacement.  If the methylmalonic acid was normal then she would start the employee on B12 shots.  She was hopeful she had found an etiology for the neuropathy.
  A CT of the brain on January 30, 2006, and the MRI of the brain on February 8, 2006, were read as “essentially normal.”

Megumi M. Vogt, M.D., Elmendorf, saw the employee on February 22, 2006, for evaluation for her headaches.  She complained her memory had worsened since her fall.  His impressions were (1) peripheral neuropathy which might be secondary to B12 deficiency but the degree of weakness was concerning; (2) memory lapse –possibly secondary to B12 deficiency and to post concussion but unlikely secondary to Neurontin; and (3) headache syndrome was stable.  Therefore, the employee should not change her medications.  He did recommend she start an aggressive B12 replacement with 1000mg IM [intramuscularly] daily for 4 days followed by weekly injections for 4 weeks, then monthly injections.
   

An x-ray of the employee’s right shoulder on April 25, 2006, showed minimal AC joint osteoarthritis. 
  She was also seen by Mr. Sheckler, PA-C to Dr. Kavanaugh, who noted she had excellent range of motion in her shoulder.  She had significant abductor weakness which was the same as on the other side.  She was to continue with her range of motion exercises.
  On April 28, 2006, she was seen by Dr. James with complaints of back pain, aggravated with standing and extending but otherwise with no change in sensation or strength, both of which are impaired by her neuropathy and peroneal nerve injuries.  Dr. James recommended she undergo radiofrequency at L3, L4, L5 and S1.
  These procedures were performed on May 1, 2006.
  Dr. James, on June 19, 2006, reported the employee had no recurrent symptoms since the radiofrequency ablation.  He reviewed a job description for management trainee/small business but did not think she would be successful due to weight limits, walking limits, prolonged standing limits, and limitation in using stairs and elevations.  She should continue use of her over-the- counter medications.

On July 13, 2006, Dr. Briscoe wrote a “to whom it may concern” letter stating the employee was totally disabled  and suggesting vocational retraining be postponed until the employee had made further progress regarding her low back, neck and shoulder pain and her associated headaches.
   Dr. Vogt saw the employee on August 1, 2006, for evaluation for headaches.  She reported to him she had headaches as often as 4 times a week, less frequently and still intense but of shorter duration.  She also thought her gait had deteriorated.  He recommended she continue with the B12 treatment and stated she could increase the Neurontin to 1200/300/1200 to see if the headaches improve and the dosage was tolerated.
  On August 24, 2006, she saw Dr. James whose impression was now myofascial syndrome, superimposed upon degenerative disease.  He injected the cervical paraspinals in the trigger point area at C7-T1, at the midpoint of the superior trapezius and at the midpoint of interscapular muscles.  This resulted in substantial reduction in her pain.
   On September 11, 2006, the employee asked Dr. Briscoe if there were some other medication to take prophylactically.  The Neurontin had been increased but without improvement.
   Dr. Briscoe on September 26, 2006, wrote another “to whom it may concern” letter stating the employee was being evaluated by Neurology for problems with memory loss although no clear etiology had been found.  Dr. Briscoe related her back pain to the work injury and stated her neuropathy, memory problems, and headaches had contributed significantly to her disability.

Dr. Stanford evaluated the employee again on September 28, 2006, at the request of the employer.  He reviewed her PPI ratings and gave her a 5.5% rating for her shoulder, 10% for her knee replacements.  This brought her rating to 15% whole person.  To this he added 9% for her back and 6% for her neck bringing the total to 28%.  He concurred with Dr. Downs that the peripheral neuropathy was unrelated to the work injury.  He felt she could do light work such as Case Aide, Social Services Aide, and Clerk, General.

On October 30, 2006, Dr. Briscoe wrote another “to whom it may concern” letter, this time stating the employee was totally disabled.  She noted a set-back over the last few months which necessitated medication changes and limited her activities.
  Dr. James on November 3, 2006, noted the employee had attempted to do some housework but it aggravated her back pain.  He wrote a prescription for housekeeping services.
  Mr. Sheckler saw the employee on
November 14, 2006, and noted she was doing well from the knee replacements. She was to continue with her exercises.

Dr. Stanford provided an addendum to his last report on December 16, 2006.  He clarified that she had a 5% PPI rating for each knee.  He disagreed that she needed housekeeping services. And he felt she needed no further medical treatment related to the May 2004 fall.
  

Dr. James responded on January 9, 2007, to an inquiry from counsel for the employer.  He stated that the employee had osteoarthritis prior to her fall on May 18, 2004, and that the Report of Occupational Injury dated June 23, 2003, put the School District on notice of the diagnosis of arthritis.  He also agreed that the May 2004 injury combined with her pre-existing problems to make her more disabled than she would have been by the May 2004 injury alone.
   On January 24, 2007, Dr. James indicated he did not approve any of the job descriptions submitted to him as being within the employee’s physical capacities.

Jennifer James, M.D., saw the employee on April 12, 2007, at the request of the Board for a second independent medical examination (SIME).  She issued her report on August 5, 2007 and November 20, 2007.  In response to the question of what diagnoses of the employee’s conditions are related to the work injury, Dr. James identified the following:

1. Cervical myofascial sprain/strain related to the work injury; normal neurological examination, and imaging showing age related changes;

2. Lumbar myofascial sprain/strain related to the work injury; normal neurological examination and imaging showing age-related degenerative changes;

3. Bilateral knee instability requiring total knee replacement surgeries attributed to work injury; superimposed on pre-existing knee arthritis and previous surgeries;

4. Mild concussion without loss of consciousness with post-concussion syndrome to include headaches and difficulties in concentration; attributed to the work injury;

5. Right shoulder rotator cuff tear requiring arthroscopic repair with acromioplasty, attributed to work injury;

6. Severe B12 deficiency diagnosed in 2006 with absolutely no links to the industrial injury; this deficiency can cause peripheral neuropathy, anemia, fatigue, decreased concentration and memory, as well as contribute to neuropathic pain;

7. Significant stocking-glove distribution peripheral neuropathy of undetermined metabolic etiology, not due to the work injury; differential diagnoses would include B12 deficiency, thyroid disorder, diabetes or medications;

8.Significant deleterious polypharmacy prescribed since the work injury likely attenuating recovery; recommend she be weaned off the cyclobenzaprine and the methocarbamol,  both of which are centrally acting medications that cause muscle weakness and fatigue; but are not for long-term use and have multiple deleterious side effects;

9. Differential diagnoses for frequent headaches include tension, medication- overuse-headaches, and side effects of polypharmacy;

10. Recent start of high-dose prednisone with associated tremors, reasons for starting prednisone is unknown;

11. Paucity of primary care. Unknown if she has associated primary care comorbidities which could be significantly contributing to her overall fatigue and multiple pain generators.  These could include adult onset diabetes, obstructive sleep apnea, vitamin D deficiency, osteoporosis, hypothyroidism, hypertension or depression.  This is obviously unrelated to the work injury but may be clouding the diagnostic picture; 

12. Poor postural biodynamics and overall general deconditioning, not due to work injury;

13. Bilateral left and right foot drop, originally attributed to knee surgery 2002 now exacerbated for unknown reasons.  It is possible this was worsened after the total knee replacement in 2004.

Dr. James opined the employee reached medical stability six months after her right shoulder surgery and six months after the bilateral knee replacements.  Her left foot drop was of unknown ideology, and was temporarily exacerbated after the left total knee replacement surgery.  She further stated this would appear to be a traumatic peroneal neuropathy from the total knee arthroplasty. Medical stability from the left foot drop cannot be predicted until the etiology is established. Medical stability from lumbar pain cannot be predicted at this time. She recommended lumbar dynamic x-ray series to rule out spondylolisthesis which could be related to the work injury.  The employee also needs a comprehensive evaluation by a primary care physician and she should be weaned off of the methocarbamol and the cyclobenzaprine immediately.  Dr. James further stated that the employee would have 5% whole person impairment for each knee.  She also stated that there was no further medical treatment currently needed as a result of the May 18, 2004, work injury.

C. DEPOSITION TESTIMONY

(1) Deposition of Jennifer James, M.D.

Dr. James was deposed on April 7, 2008, regarding her report.
  When asked whether the fall in 2004 was a substantial factor in causing any symptoms of the employee, she testified that “it’s related.  I’m certainly – I’m sure that it certainly exacerbated or lit up myofascial changes.  She has, almost three years later, poor posture and is rather deconditioned, but her range of motion of her neck was actually pretty good.”
  She went on to state there were no structural abnormalities or neurological abnormalities as a result of the fall.  Therefore, her cervical strain should have resolved in two years.
  As to the employee’s low back, she has very poor posture with increased lumbar lordosis (swayback) which causes increased back pain.
  Her degenerative changes as reflected on the 2005 MRI are within normal limits for someone of her age.
  The work injury is not a factor at this time in any need for further treatment for the low back. 

Dr. James also identified the employee has peripheral neuropathy and noted Dr. Vogt in March 2007 gave her a diagnosis of CIDP (chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy).
  This is an autoimmune disease where the body attacks the nerves.
  The onset is insidious and typically is a symmetrical disease, affecting the arms and legs and, is not caused by trauma.
  The symptoms are weakness, loss of balance, profound fatigue, and shortness of breath and it primarily attacks the motor axons more than the sensory axons.
  Dr. James also discussed the B12 deficiency as a cause of neuropathy, and opined the B12 deficiency could be caused by all the medications she was taking -- Zantac, Tums, ibuprofen, and any narcotic.
  Dr. James noted that her B12 deficiency was being treated with supplements and had improved but that she still had progressive distal polyneuropathy so something else must be going on. 
  A neurologist would be the proper person to answer questions about the CIDP/polyneuropathy.
  Moreover, the fall down the stairs in May 2004 did not cause the CIDP.

Dr. James stated that while she understood a certain amount about peroneal nerve problems, this issue would be better addressed by a neurologist.
  It is unclear to her whether the first knee replacement or the fall in 2004 resulting in the second knee replacements was the cause of the current peroneal nerve problems because she had foot drop after the first knee replacement which got better and then developed it again after the second knee replacement.

Dr. James was more concerned about the medications that the employee has been taking.  “Cyclobenzaprine and methocarbamol are both centrally-acting, FDA-approved medications for muscle relaxant.  They both act on the central nervous system by essentially relaxing your whole body.  They do not act locally at the muscle spindle itself.  So the central nervous system effect is fatigue, lethargy, overall muscle weakness.  It turns you into a noodle, and this is FDA approved for short-term muscle relaxation after an accident.  It is quite deleterious to be giving this week after week, month after month, year after year.”
  The side effects include muscle atrophy, loss of concentration, fatigue, poor endurance, and poor concentration.
  She should be weaned off these medications and start treating her muscle spasm non-pharmacologically with stretching exercises, adjunctive modalities in physical therapy like a TENS unit, etc.
  

Dr. James opined that the employee’s use of Tramadol is appropriate as it is FDA approved for chronic pain and is good for someone with myofascial pain and depression.
  Dr. James stated that Prednisone is a steroid the employee would be taking for the CIDP, and is not work related.
  Dr. James stated that gabapentin is Neurontin and is used for neuropathic pain and is more likely given for the CIDP so that it too is not as a result of the work injury.
  Dr. James stated that AcipHex is a proton pump inhibitor for gastroesophageal reflux disease which is a good medicine but it can cause B12 deficiency.  Dr. James stated that the work injury is not a factor in the need for this drug.
  Dr. James identified cyanocobalamin as the oral form of B12.  Amitriptyline is an old medication to assist in the onset of sleep.
  It is a highly anticholinergic medication which is not widely used anymore because it causes dizziness, lack of concentration, inability to urinate, dry mouth, according to Dr. James.
  However, Dr. James stated the employee’s work injury is not a factor in the need for this medication.
  Dr. James also recommended the employee discontinue her use of ibuprofen and naproxen because they are essentially the same medication and using it twice could lead to renal failure.

With regard to the employee’s headaches, Dr. James stated these were due to tension, medication overuse, or side effects of polyneuropathy.  Individuals taking medications such as ibuprofen, Naprosyn, methocarbamol, and cyclobenzaprine get a rebound headache when the medication wears off.
  Dr. James stated that the employee needs a work-up to determine the origin of the headaches, as does she have migraines, and that a neurologist would be appropriate to do this work-up. 

On cross-examination, Dr. James testified, while the fall may have made her neck and back symptomatic, the myofascial strain/sprain and the cervical and lumbar regions did not permanently aggravate the pre-existing conditions.
  However, she added the medications caused her to be lethargic and have poor muscle tone and slowed recovery.  The pharmacological treatment for the neck and back contributed to her current condition, in particular the medications cyclobenzaprine and methocarbamol.
  While Dr. James did not think the fall permanently aggravated the neck and back conditions, she did agree the fall caused a muscle spasm which caused the reversal of the cervical lordosis.
   She further testified the enlargement of the cauda equine was not trauma caused but is usually arachnoiditis which happens when dye is injected and causes some clumping.
 

Based on the additional information, Dr. James opined the foot drop was more likely caused by the CIDP, rather than the knee replacement surgeries.
  She agreed it was possible the medications caused the B12 deficiency and the treatment for the deficiency would not eliminate her problems.  However, Dr. James opined that she has both CIDP and B12 deficiency and it is difficult to sort out which caused the peripheral neuropathy.
  

(2). Affidavit, J. Michael James, M.D.

 Treating physician J. Michael James, M.D., in affidavit, stated the fall permanently aggravated the employee’s peripheral neuropathy, and increased her disabilities.  He also stated her knees did not return to full functioning after the second replacements.  Dr. James opined that the onset of chronic pain was directly related to the fall which injured the employee’s neck, back, shoulder, and knees.  The use of crutches and an altered gain aggravated the shoulder and her low back, according to Dr. James.

(3)  Deposition of Deborah Buser
The employee testified in her deposition on September 27, 2006, that she never had headaches until after the fall in May 2004.
  She had knee replacements in 2002 with good relief from her prior pain complaints.
  She had foot drop after the first surgery on her right knee but it got better after wearing a brace for six months.
  The employee further stated she had no problems with her neck prior to the fall, although she had some minor complaints with her low back from which she recovered.
  Her ankles were fused when she was a child.
  Likewise, she also said she had no shoulder problems before the fall in May 2004.
  She said she was not currently getting any kind of treatment for the shoulder.
  She also described pain in her neck and shoulder which was constant, especially when crocheting or cooking.
  She agreed one leg was shorter than the other prior to the fall but she could not remember if she discussed it with any doctor.
  In 2006, the employee described new problems with headaches and memory loss which she attributed to the fall in 2004.
  The employee testified that she is now using a cane due to both her knee and back problems.
  She agreed her knees were better and not painful.
  She had foot drop when she did not wear her brace, like when she was at home.
  When she had bad days due to her headaches and backaches she stayed in bed.
  The back pain was constant.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I. PRESUMPTION OF COMPENSABILITY

AS 23.30.120 Presumptions, provides, in part, that

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter;

(2) sufficient notice of the claim has been given;

The Alaska Supreme Court has held that "the text of AS 23.30.120(a) (1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  Therefore, an injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits she seeks are compensable.
 

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and her employment.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce "some" "minimal" relevant evidence
 establishing a "preliminary link" between the disability and employment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.

“Before the presumption attaches, some preliminary link must be established between the disability and the employment….”
  “The purpose of the preliminary link requirement is to ‘rule out cases in which [the] claimant can show neither that the injury occurred in the course of employment nor that it arose out of [it].”
  In making the preliminary link determination, the Board may not concern itself with the witnesses’ credibility.”

Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury is not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence the injury was not work-related.
  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 


(1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 



(2)  directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.

"Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  “It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”
  If medical experts rule out work-related causes for the injury, then an alternative explanation is not required.
  The Board must look at the employer’s evidence in isolation, without regard to any evidence presented by the employee.
  Therefore, the Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  

If the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, bringing us to the third step of the presumption analysis, which provides that the employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the Board that the asserted facts are probably true.

The Alaska Supreme Court has long held the presumption of compensability applies to claims for medical benefits as these benefits come within the meaning of compensation in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.
  Therefore, we will apply this analysis to the employee’s claim for future medical benefits.

II. FUTURE MEDICAL BENEFITS

AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance of treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. However, if the condition requiring treatment, apparatus, or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee's disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement.  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the 
two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board. The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. When medical care is required, the injured employee may designate a licensed physician to provide all medical and related benefits.

Under the Act, an injured worker is entitled to medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee.”
  “If continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.”
  The presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) applies to claims for medical benefits, including continuing care.
  In complex medical cases, medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link between the work injury and the ongoing disabilities.

A. Bilateral Knee Pain and Right Foot Drop.

The employee seeks ongoing medical treatment for bilateral knee pain and right foot drop related to the knee injury.  This is a complicated medical situation requiring medical evidence to raise the presumption of compensability.  Therefore, at the first stage of the presumption analysis, the Board reviewed the testimony of the employee and the medical reports of her various treating doctors.  The reports and opinions of Dr. Kavanaugh, who treated the employee for her knee problems in 2004, relate the employee’s knee problems to the work injury in 2004, and establish the presumption of compensability for the bilateral knees and right foot drop.  Additionally, Dr. Michael James, in his 2007 affidavit, stated the employee’s knees had not returned to their pre-2004 functioning.  The opinions of these doctors in combination constitute sufficient medical evidence in this complex case to raise the presumption of compensability for the employee’s claim of ongoing medical benefits for her bilateral knees, including the foot drop.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the employer must present substantial evidence that the current disabilities are not work related in order to overcome the presumption.  The Board finds the EME reports of Dr. Stanford in June and July 2005 to be substantial evidence demonstrating that the employee’s current need for medical treatment for the knee condition are not related to the fall in 2004.  Dr. Stanford in his report dated June 25, 2005, found the employee had reached medical stability from the bilateral knee surgeries and gave her a 28% PPI rating, with no further treatment indicated.  In his July 14, 2005, report he found that her residual knee, and ankle complaints were the result of her pre-existing condition, and that the foot-drop condition was not work-related.  The effects of the work injury had resolved and she was medically stable from the knees and ankle injuries.  He ruled out work as a substantial factor in any ongoing knee complaints the employee might have.  Since Dr. Stanford ruled out work as a substantial factor in any ongoing knee complaints and the foot drop condition, his opinions constitute sufficient medical evidence to rebut the presumption of compensability.  

Once the presumption of compensability has been rebutted by substantial evidence the employee must prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Weighing all of the conflicting medical evidence, we find that the preponderance of the evidence shows that the employee has not met this burden of proof with regard to her claim for continuing medical benefits related to her knees (including the foot drop).  First, her treating doctor for the knees, Dr. Kavanaugh saw the employee several times from January through July 2005 (following her bilateral knee replacements) and noted she was doing well with her knees.  In other visits there was no mention of knee problems indicating the employee was not complaining of any ongoing difficulties.  In September 2005, Dr. Kavanaugh’s PA-C saw her and noted she was doing well from both the knee replacements and her shoulder surgery.  X-Rays of the knees on October 18, 2005, showed no joint effusion and no acute processes.  Dr. Michael James on the same day stated that her bilateral revision of total knee procedure had achieved a good result.  He also stated her foot drop was improving and was probably peripheral in origin.  

The Board also relies on the opinions and deposition testimony of Dr. Stanford (EME physician), and Dr. Jennifer James (SIME physician) for our finding that any ongoing knee or foot drop problems are not related to the 2004 fall.   Dr. Jennifer James in her SIME report stated employee reached medical stability six months after her bilateral knee replacements and needed no further medical treatment for the employee’s knees as a result of the work injury.  Dr. Stanford in June 2005 examined the employee and stated that she did not need any further medical treatment for her knees, although Dr. Stanford noted the employee had permanent physical restrictions.  

Drs. Stanford and Dr. Jennifer James are credible in their overall evaluation and determination that the 2004 work injury is not a substantial factor in any of the employee’s ongoing knee and foot drop complaints.  These doctors reviewed the employee’s entire medical history.  Many of the treating doctors relied on the employee’s verbal history in spite of notations that the employee was a poor historian.  

The cumulative evidence from a variety of doctors, including treating, EME and SIME physicians, which constitutes a preponderance of the evidence, is that the employee’s knee problems and foot drop arising out of the 2004 work injury had resolved by 2006.  Therefore, the employee is not entitled to ongoing medical benefits for the bilateral knees and right foot drop.  

B. Cervical and Lumbar Spine Complaints.

The employee also seeks ongoing medical benefits for her cervical and lumbar spine complaints.  As noted above this is a complex medical case for which medical evidence is needed to raise the presumption the employee is entitled to ongoing medical benefits for her back conditions – cervical and lumbar.  The Board notes the employee was seen by Cindy Lee, D.O, on May 18, 2005, and her diagnoses were chronic low back pain felt mostly to be related to mechanical pain and weakened spinal musculature becoming chronic, lumbosacral strain, chronic neck pain, chronic cervical strain, cervical degenerative disc disease, probable cervical spondylosis, and chronic daily headaches.  Based on the employee’s history of no neck pain, headaches or low back pain prior to the fall, Dr. Lee found some underlying relationship between these complaints and the May 18, 2004, fall.  Dr. Lee relied on the employee’s statements that she had neither cervical nor low back pain prior to the work injury and concluded the work injury played some role in her complaints.  Further, Dr. Michael James in January 2006 assigned a percentage of her cervical and low back problems to a pre-existing condition but stated her cervical and lumbar complaints were partially related to the 2004 fall.  Dr. Michael James in his 2007 affidavit also stated the 2004 fall was a cause of the onset of chronic pain in her neck and back.  Dr. Downs in 2006 related the employee’s low back problems to her fall at school in 2004.  These statements by the employee’s treating doctors separately and together raise the presumption that employee’s 2004 work fall caused or aggravated both her cervical and lumbar spine problems. 

The employer must then rebut this presumption with substantial evidence that the work injury is not now a substantial factor in any need for ongoing treatment for either the cervical or lumber spines.  The employee’s medical records reflect a pre-existing discrepancy in leg length and treatment for back pain in 2003.  X-rays of the cervical and thoracic spine taken immediately after the 2004 fall showed degenerative disc disease and some generalized decreased bone mineralization.  At the time of the fall, the employee complained of neck, rib and knee pain.  The EME physician Dr. Stanford, in 2005, found that her residual low back, cervical, knee, and ankle complaints were the result of her pre-existing condition.  The effects of the work injury had resolved and she was medically stable from the low back and cervical spine injuries.  Dr. Stanford’s opinion is substantial evidence to rebut the presumption because he ruled out the work injury as a factor in any ongoing back problems. 

Once the presumption is rebutted, the employee must prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  We find that the employee is unable to prove a need for future medical benefits for her cervical and lumbar back complaints.  Both Drs. Jennifer James and Stanford opined that the employee’s low back and cervical problems attributable to the work injury had resolved.  The work injury was no longer a factor in any ongoing back complaints, which are now the result of pre-existing degenerative disc disease.  Their opinions are also supported by several reports from the employee’s treating doctors.  Dr. Michael James in October 2005, attributed her back complaints to degenerative disc disease and noted the low back condition in particular was mechanical in origin.  He also reduced his PPI rating in January 2006 by 60% for pre-existing disease – for both the cervical and lumbar spine.  Dr. Michael James opined that the employee was medically stable when he rated her.  He also reported on June 19, 2006, that she had no recurrent back symptoms following the radiofrequency ablation done on May 1, 2006.  

Dr. Lee in May 2005 opined the employee’s chronic low back pain was primarily mechanical in origin and due also to weakened musculature.  At that time she recommended lumbar stabilization exercises.  Dr. Chang in June 2005 evaluated the employee’s foot gait which he opined was compensatory for her neuropraxia and was not pathologic nor myelopathic (i.e., unrelated to her spine).  He indicated no further intervention was needed.
Dr. Jennifer James in her deposition stated the employee had no structural abnormalities or neurological abnormalities as a result of the 2004 fall.  Her cervical strain should have resolved within 2 years.  As to the employee’s low back complaints, Dr. Jennifer James attributed these to her poor posture with increased lumbar lordosis (swayback).  She also added the fall may have made the employee symptomatic but it did not permanently aggravate her pre-existing conditions.  

The Board finds, based on this cumulative evidence, that the employee does not require additional medical treatment for either the cervical or lumbar spine as a result of the May 2004 fall.  Any ongoing problems are due to normal age-related degeneration and poor posture.  The most recent MRI showed age-related degeneration, according to Dr. Jennifer James.  The Board finds Dr. Jennifer James to be credible in her opinions and relies on her testimony in weighing the evidence.  We find that the employee has not shown by a preponderance of the evidence entitlement to ongoing medical benefits regarding the cervical and lumbar spine, and her claim for benefits for treatment for those conditions is denied. 

C. Shoulder Condition.

The next question is whether the employee has raised the presumption of compensability to establish an ongoing need for medical treatment for her right shoulder complaints.  She first complained of right shoulder pain on July 21, 2004 to Clay Robert Dahlquist at the Snowy Owls Clinic and an MRI was done in August 2004 which showed a possible rotator cuff tear.
Dr. Stanford attributed those shoulder complaints to the May 2004 fall.  These contemporaneous reports of shoulder pain and Dr. Stanford’s connection of the shoulder pain to the work injury raise the presumption of compensability that the shoulder condition is work related.  Dr. Michael James, in his 2007 affidavit, attributed the employee’s continuing chronic pain in her right shoulder directly to the May 2004 fall.  His statement, along with the employee’s assertions in July 2004 that she injured her shoulder in the fall, are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that her right shoulder pain is the result of the May 2004 fall.  

Since the employee is able to raise the presumption of compensability, the employer must rebut the assertion that the 2004 work injury is a substantial factor in her right chronic shoulder pain.  Dr. Stanford, in the December 16, 2006, addendum to his EME report, stated the employee was medically stable from the shoulder injury and needed no further medical treatment as a result of the May 2004 fall.  His opinion is also supported by the SIME report from Dr. Jennifer James who likewise opined that the employee needed no further medical treatment as a result of the May 2004 work injury.  Both of these reports rule out the work injury as a cause in the need for ongoing shoulder treatment.  These medical opinions constitute substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of compensability.  

Once the employer rebuts the presumption, as noted above, the employee must prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  The Board finds the employee is unable to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence she needs ongoing medical treatment for the right shoulder.
Dr. Kavanaugh performed a right mini-open rotator cuff repair and right open acromioplasty on March 4, 2005.  By March 31, the employee reported very little pain in her shoulder.  By
April 28, 2005, she had no gross weakness and excellent range of motion.  On July 25, 2005, the employee reported to Dr. Kavanaugh she had no pain in her shoulder.  An x-ray of the shoulder on April 26, 2006, showed minimal AC joint osteoarthritis and Dr. Kavanaugh’s PA-C reported excellent range of motion the same day.  Her abduction ability was the same on both sides.  When the SIME physician Dr. Jennifer James saw the employee in April 2007, the employee demonstrated excellent full range of motion of both shoulders and no impingement.  In her report, Dr. Jennifer James opined the employee needed no further medical treatment for her shoulder. 

The above evidence is substantial evidence that the employee does not need ongoing medical treatment for the shoulder as a result of the May 2004 fall, and that the employee is unable to show by a preponderance of the evidence that she requires any ongoing medical treatment for the shoulder as a result of the work injury.  The Board finds both Drs. Kavanaugh and Jennifer James to be credible in their opinions and relies on their opinions.  The Board finds that the employee cannot prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence and, therefore, denies her claim for future medical treatment for the shoulder.

D. Peripheral Neuropathy.

The next question is whether the employee has raised the presumption of compensability to establish an ongoing need for medical treatment for the peripheral neuropathy condition.
Dr. Michael James, in his 2007 affidavit, stated that the 2004 fall permanently aggravated her pre-existing peripheral neuropathy.  The opinion of Dr. Michael James is sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability that her peripheral neuropathy is work related, including any need for ongoing medical treatment.

Once the employee has raised the presumption of compensability, the employer must rebut the assertion that the 2004 work injury is a substantial factor in her ongoing peripheral neuropathy pain.  Both Dr. Stanford and Dr. Downs opined in 2005 that the employee’s peripheral neuropathy was not the result of the fall in 2004.  Dr. Downs on November 21, 2005, on referral from Dr. Michael James, assessed the employee as having peripheral neuropathy and advised the employee that her 2004 fall did not cause the peripheral neuropathy.  Dr. Stanford, in his June 25, 2005 EME report, stated her foot drop was of unknown etiology and was not related to the 2004 fall.  Dr. Stanford’s report standing alone is substantial evidence that the peripheral neuropathy is not work related.  His opinion is supported by the opinion of Dr. Downs.  Based on these two reports the employer has overcome the presumption of compensability that the peripheral neuropathy is related to the work injury in 2004.  

Once the presumption of compensability has been rebutted by substantial evidence, the employee must prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  The SIME physician, Dr. Jennifer James in her report in 2007, agreed the employee had peripheral neuropathy which she attributed to either the Vitamin B12 deficiency or the new diagnosis of CIDP (chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy).  According to Dr. Jennifer James, neither of these conditions were the result of the 2004 fall.  Although she would defer to a Neurologist on the question of CIDP, Dr. Jennifer James was certain in her opinion that the CIDP was unrelated to the 2004 fall.  In deposition, Dr. Jennifer James stated it was possible the Vitamin B12 deficiency was related to the medications, but Dr. James did not state it was probable.  She noted the employee has both CIDP and B12 deficiency and it is difficult to attribute the cause of the peripheral neuropathy to one or the other.  Dr. Jennifer James, asserted the CIDP, the B12 deficiency, and the peripheral neuropathy were not work-related; however, she felt that a Neurologist would be better able to address these conditions. 

Therefore, the Board, pursuant to AS 23.30.100(g) and AS 23.30.095(k), has determined that before it can decide the work relatedness of the CIDP, B12 deficiency, or peripheral neuropathy, it needs an SIME with a Neurologist.  Dr. Jennifer James deferred questions regarding the peripheral neuropathy, CIDP, and B12 deficiency to a Neurologist and there is a dispute among the physicians regarding the neuropathy and its relationship to the employee’s work injury.  Therefore, we shall order the Board designee to schedule another SIME with a Neurologist.


ORDER

1.  Employee’s claim for future medical benefits for both knees, foot drop, shoulder, lumbar back, and cervical back is denied.

2. An SIME with a Neurologist shall be conducted in order to evaluate the employee’s peripheral neuropathy, B12 deficiency, and CIDP.  The questions for the SIME shall include (a) whether the 2004 fall at work caused or permanently aggravated employee’s peripheral neuropathy?; (b) whether the 2004 fall was a substantial factor in the onset of employee’s CIDP or B12 deficiency?; and (c) whether employee requires any ongoing medical treatment for the peripheral neuropathy, CIDP, or B12 deficiency?

3. The parties shall proceed with the SIME in accordance with the procedures in 8 AAC 45.092(h).

4. The Board shall retain jurisdiction over employee’s claim for ongoing medical treatment for the peripheral neuropathy, CIDP and B12 deficiency, pending the receipt of the SIME report. 

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on July 23, 2009.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
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